2015

State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellant, v. Michael Rowan and Rebecca George, Defendants/Appellees

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The State appeals from a final order dismissing the charges against defendants following the suppression of evidence that substantially impaired the prosecution's cases. This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Annotated § 78A-3-102(3)(i) (West 2009) in the case against defendant Michael Rowan, and under Utah Code Annotated § 78A-3-102(3)(b) (West 2009) in the case against defendant Rebecca George.¹

¹ Although the defendants were charged in a single information, they were prosecuted in separate cases: *State v. Rowan*, Fourth Dist. Ct. Case No. 131402290, and *State v. George*, Fourth Dist. Ct. Case No. 131402291. Citations to the electronic record in *Rowan* will be designated by the letter "R" and to the record in *George* by the letter "G," each followed by the paginated number (*e.g.*, R1 or G1). This Court consolidated the two cases on appeal by order issued November 20, 2015. Although the district court's joint orders at issue on appeal appear in both records, the search warrant documents and relevant motions and memoranda appear only in the *Rowan* record.

INTRODUCTION

A confidential informant (“CI”) with pending charges against him reported to police that he knew a man named “Mike” who would sell him marijuana. The CI also detailed that Mike drove to California to obtain the drug and then sold it from his Provo home in vacuum-sealed packaging. In exchange for leniency on criminal charges, the CI agreed to make a controlled buy at Mike’s home. In the presence of police, the CI called Mike and arranged the drug buy. After giving the CI the buy money, police followed the CI in his car as he drove to and from Mike’s house. The CI returned with the agreed upon amount of marijuana. A magistrate thereafter issued a warrant to search Mike’s house. In the ensuing search, police found drugs, paraphernalia, buy-owe sheets, guns, and large sums of cash.

The trial court suppressed the evidence. Although the CI was searched before and after the buy – and police kept him in their sight as he traveled to and from the buy – the court concluded that probable cause was lacking because police did not also search the CI’s car. The court ruled that the evidence is admissible under the federal good faith exception, but suppressed it anyway after concluding that the state exclusionary rule does not include a good faith exception. In doing so, the court rejected the State’s argument that the Utah Constitution does not include an exclusionary rule.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the magistrate have a substantial basis for concluding that the search warrant was supported by probable cause?

2. If not, does the Utah Constitution require an exclusionary rule for evidence obtained as the result of a violation of Article I, § 14?

3. If so, should this Court recognize a good faith exception to the state exclusionary rule analogous to the federal exception articulated in *United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897 (1984)?

Standard of Review. This Court affords great deference to the magistrate's decision to issue a search warrant. *State v. Norris*, 2001 UT 104, ¶14, 48 P.3d 872. The Court's task "is not to conduct a de novo determination of probable cause," *Massachusetts v. Upton*, 466 U.S. 727, 728 (1984) (*per curiam*), but to "assess whether the magistrate had a 'substantial basis for determining that probable cause existed,'" based on the four corners of the supporting affidavit and read in a common sense fashion, *Norris*, 2001 UT 104, ¶14 (citation omitted).

Whether the Utah Constitution requires the exclusion of evidence for a violation of its provisions is a question of law reviewed for correctness. *See State v. Casey*, 2002 UT 29, ¶ 19, 44 P.3d 756 (holding that interpretation of Utah Constitution is question of law reviewed for correctness).

Preservation. The issue of whether the magistrate had a substantial basis for finding probable cause was preserved in defendants' first motion to suppress, R27-37, the State's opposing memorandum, R41-53, and the arguments at the May 27, 2014 hearing, R263-68 (G104). The issues of whether there should be a state exclusionary rule, and if so, whether it should include a good faith exception analogous to the federal good faith exception, were preserved in defendants' second motion to suppress and reply, R70-80,151-68, the State's opposing memorandum, R102-10,129-45, and the parties arguments at the November 4, 2014 hearing, R282-300 (G107).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

U.S. Const. amend. IV

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

Utah Const. art. I, § 14

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated; and no warrant shall issue but upon probable cause supported by oath or affirmation, particularly describing the place to be searched, and the person or thing to be seized.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE²

A. Summary of facts.

On August 28, 2012, a magistrate issued a warrant authorizing the search of the defendants' Provo residence, which was located within 1,000 feet of a church. R65-66. In finding probable cause for the warrant, the magistrate relied on the affidavit of Springville City police officer Steven Pratt, who had been investigating the case over the course of the previous several days. R3,60-64.

Affidavit for Search Warrant

A confidential informant (CI) with criminal charges pending against him reported to police that a man known to him only as Mike "was in possession of marijuana and would sell it" to him. R62:¶4. The CI told Officer Pratt that he has been in Mike's home and has bought drugs from him. R62:¶4. The CI said that (1) "Mike will travel to California to obtain marijuana to sell here in Utah," R62:¶6; (2) Mike then "sells [the] marijuana in bulk and his product is vacuum sealed," R62:¶4; and (3) Mike "keeps his marijuana inside his residence," though the CI was not sure exactly where in the home, R62:¶6.

² The facts are taken from the search warrant documents, R60-67 (Addendum A), and the Information's probable cause statement, R3, G1.

The CI agreed to participate in a controlled buy of marijuana in exchange for leniency on his pending criminal charges. R62:¶5. Police searched the CI before he left to conduct the controlled buy and found no drugs. R62:¶7. In the presence of police, the CI then called Mike on his cell phone and agreed to buy a specified amount of marijuana from Mike at his house for a specified amount of money. R62:¶7. Police gave the CI the buy money and the CI drove his own car to Mike's residence with police following. R62:¶7. The CI drove straight to Mike's residence without making any intervening stops and entered the home. R62:¶7.

After a short time inside, the CI left the residence and drove to a predetermined location to rendezvous with police. R62:¶8. The CI confirmed with Officer Pratt that after going in the house, he gave Mike the buy money and Mike gave him the agreed-upon amount of marijuana. R62:¶9. Police searched the CI's person and found "a distributable amount of marijuana" in the amount "agreed upon." R62:¶8. Police did not search the CI's car—either before or after the controlled buy. However, detectives working the case followed the CI to Mike's residence and to the rendezvous point with police after the buy. R62:¶¶7-8. Each time, the detectives kept the CI "in visual sight at all times" —"the whole time." R62:¶¶7-8.

Before police applied for the warrant, the CI told officers that Mike is a martial arts master; he also said that he has heard Mike talk about firearms and believed that Mike may have a firearm in his house. R62:¶9. Officer Pratt tried to determine Mike's full identity before seeking the warrant, but record checks on the residence and vehicles, as well as inquiries to other agencies, were unsuccessful. R63:¶10.

Search of Defendants' Home

After securing the warrant, police searched the defendants' home and found some four pounds of marijuana, psilocybin mushrooms, drug paraphernalia, buy-owe sheets, more than \$3,600 in cash, and two firearms—an assault rifle and a handgun. R3,67. The drugs and paraphernalia were found throughout the residence and were easily accessible to the defendants' minor child, who was present in the home when police entered to conduct the search. R3.

B. Summary of proceedings.

Defendant Michael Rowan was charged with (1) distributing marijuana in a drug-free zone, a second degree felony; (2) while having a prior drug-related conviction, possessing marijuana in a drug-free zone with intent to distribute, a first degree felony; (3) while having a prior drug-related conviction, possessing psilocybin mushrooms in a drug-free zone with in-

tent to distribute, a first degree felony; (4) possessing a firearm as a restricted person, a third degree felony; (5) possessing drug paraphernalia in a drug-free zone, a class A misdemeanor; and (6) endangering a child, a third degree felony. R1-3 (G3-1). Defendant Rebecca George was charged with one count of endangering a child, a third degree felony. R2-3 (G2-1).

Motion to Suppress on Fourth Amendment Grounds

Defendants moved to suppress the evidence seized in the search of their home, arguing that the warrant was not supported by probable cause. R27-37. In response, the State argued that the magistrate had a substantial basis for finding probable cause, but even if not, that the evidence should not be suppressed under the federal good faith exception. After hearing argument, R263-268 (G104), the trial court denied the motion, R269-81 (G105). In its written order, the court concluded that the warrant was not supported by probable cause, but refused to suppress the evidence under the federal good faith exception articulated in *United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897 (1984). R226-32 (Addendum B) (G84-78).

Motion to Suppress on State Constitution Grounds

Defendants filed a second motion to suppress the evidence, this time urging the trial court to not recognize a good faith exception under Utah's exclusionary rule. R70-80. In response, the State argued that there is no basis

for an exclusionary rule under the Utah Constitution and, even if there were, it should include a good faith exception analogous to the federal exception. R88-146. After hearing argument, R282-300 (G107), the trial court granted defendants' motion to suppress—concluding that a state exclusionary rule is constitutionally required and that a good faith exception is inappropriate because it would deprive defendants of the right to a remedy, undermine the integrity of the executive and judicial branches, and weaken the warrant process, R180-94 (Addendum C) (G51-37).

Dismissal and Appeal

On the State's motion, the trial court dismissed the charges against defendants on the ground that the suppression of evidence substantially impaired the State's cases. R241,247 (G92,98). The State timely appealed both cases. R251-52 (G101-100). After this Court elected to retain the *Rowan* case on its docket, R306, the court of appeals certified the *George* case for transfer to this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Probable cause showing for search warrant. The trial court improperly vacated the search warrant issued by the magistrate. Rather than reviewing the magistrate's probable cause decision with great deference, the court reviewed it de novo, as if it were a magistrate looking at the warrant

application for the first time. And, consequently, the trial court erroneously concluded that the affidavit failed to establish probable cause.

When the affidavit is viewed as a whole and in a common sense manner, the magistrate had a substantial basis for his probable cause finding. The tip that drugs were being sold out of Defendants' home was made by a known informant, who was thus subject to prosecution if he was lying to police. Moreover, he was promised leniency in his pending criminal charges. He thus risked losing the benefit of the bargain if his claims proved to be a tale. Added to that, the informant participated in a controlled buy at the home that yielded a distributable amount of marijuana. Police searched the informant before and after the buy, but not the car he drove to and from the buy. A car search may well have bolstered the probable cause showing. But police followed the informant to and from the buy, keeping him in visual sight at all times. Those measures were sufficient to assure that the drugs were purchased at the home, not retrieved from the car.

II. Article I, § 14 and the exclusionary remedy.

This Court should reconsider and reject a state exclusionary rule for violations of Article I, § 14. The opinion in *State v. Thompson* adopting a state exclusionary rule is bereft of analysis and relies on the plurality opinion of *State v. Larocco* as if it were binding precedent. But the *Larocco* plurality's ra-

tionale for a state exclusionary rule also does not withstand scrutiny. It is not grounded in Article I, § 14's text; it does not consider the understanding of Utah's framers at the time of the state constitution's adoption; and it is based in large part on decisions from this Court that applied the federal exclusionary rule, not a state exclusionary rule.

III. Good faith exception. This Court should reverse even if a substantial basis for the magistrate's probable cause finding was lacking, and a state exclusionary rule is a proper remedy. The evidence seized should not have been suppressed because the trial court found that the officers acted in objective good faith, reasonably relying on a warrant issued by a neutral and detached magistrate. Although the trial court acknowledged that the officers acted in good faith, it refused to recognize a good faith exception to Utah's exclusionary rule. That determination was incorrect. Like its federal counterpart, the state exclusionary rule is a judicial remedy designed to deter future constitutional violations by law enforcement officials. Accordingly, the objectives of the exclusionary rule are not served when officers rely in good faith on a search warrant issued by a neutral magistrate. Because the officers here reasonably relied on the warrant in conducting the search, the evidence should not have been suppressed.

ARGUMENT

I.

The Magistrate Had a Substantial Basis for Finding Probable Cause.

The trial court ruled that the search warrant affidavit “failed to show [that] there was probable cause” because police did not independently corroborate the CI’s claims that “Mike” was selling drugs from his Provo residence. R230-31. The court ruled that the drug buy monitored by police was insufficient to corroborate the CI’s claim because officers did not search the CI’s car before and after the drug buy. R230. The court reasoned that absent a before-and-after car search, the CI “could not be excluded as the source of the controlled substance, or as the person who retained the buy money.” R230. The court also observed that “[n]othing in the Affidavit suggests that the Confidential Informant had provided credible information in the past.” R231.

This Court should reverse the ruling of the trial court. Rather than affording the magistrate’s probable cause determination “great deference,” the trial court reviewed the probable cause affidavit de novo. This was error. And that error resulted in the trial court’s erroneous conclusion that the search warrant was not supported by probable cause.

A. The trial court erred in reviewing the search warrant affidavit de novo, rather than applying deferential review to the magistrate's probable cause determination.

The Fourth Amendment reflects a “strong preference for searches conducted pursuant to a warrant.” *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 236 (1983). When a warrant is issued, the decision that a search is justified has been made “by a neutral and detached magistrate” rather than a police officer “engaged in the often competitive [and hurried] enterprise of ferreting out crime.” *Johnson v. United States*, 333 U.S. 10, 14 (1948). The issuance of a warrant “assures the individual whose property is searched or seized of the lawful authority of the executing officer, his need to search, and the limits of his power to search.” *Groh v. Ramirez*, 540 U.S. 551, 561 (2004) (quoting *United States v. Chadwick*, 433 U.S. 1, 9 (1977)).

“A grudging or negative attitude by reviewing courts towards warrants’ is inconsistent with the Fourth Amendment’s strong preference for searches conducted pursuant to a warrant.” *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 236 (quoting *United States v. Ventresca*, 380 U.S. 102, 108 (1965)). While warrantless searches for evidence are “presumptively unreasonable,” *Payton v. New York*, 445 U.S. 573, 586 (1980), searches conducted under the authority of a warrant are presumed to comport with Fourth Amendment requirements. See *United States v. Ross*, 456 U.S. 798, 823 n.32 (1982) (holding that “a war-

warrant issued by a magistrate normally suffices to establish” the search’s reasonableness). For this reason, reviewing courts—trial and appellate courts alike—“should pay ‘great deference’ to the magistrate’s [probable cause] decision.” *State v. Babbell*, 770 P.2d 987, 991 (Utah 1989) (quoting *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 236). Magistrates and reviewing courts thus have distinctive roles when considering probable cause for a warrant.

“The task of the issuing magistrate is simply to make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, . . . there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.” *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 238. In contrast, the reviewing court’s task “is not to conduct a de novo determination of probable cause.” *Massachusetts v. Upton*, 466 U.S. 727, 728 (1984) (*per curiam*); accord *Babbell*, 770 P.2d at 991. Its task is only to determine whether the magistrate had a “substantial basis” for finding probable cause. *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 238-39; accord *Upton*, 466 U.S. at 728; *Babbell*, 770 P.2d at 991. And under this standard, the reviewing court may not invalidate the warrant simply because it might have reached a different result. Indeed, “the resolution of doubtful or marginal cases in this area should be largely determined by the preference to be accorded to warrants.” *Ventresca*, 380 U.S. at 109; accord *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 236-37 n.10.

The trial court in this case did not afford the magistrate's probable cause determination the deference it was due. The court failed to even acknowledge the deferential standard by which it was required to review the warrant. *See* R230-31. The court instead conducted "after-the-fact, de novo scrutiny" of the probable cause showing, as if it were the magistrate looking at the affidavit for the first time. *See Upton*, 466 U.S. at 733. And in doing so, the court improperly focused on what police did not do to bolster a probable cause showing, rather than on the facts that supported the magistrate's decision. That error resulted in the trial court's erroneous conclusion that the search warrant was not supported by probable cause.

B. The magistrate had a substantial basis for finding probable cause in support of the search warrant.

Like the magistrate, the reviewing court should "consider the search warrant affidavit in 'its entirety and in a common-sense fashion.'" *State v. Thurman*, 846 P.2d 1256, 1260 (Utah 1993) (*quoting Babbell*, 770 P.2d at 991) (other internal quotes omitted). As noted, a warrant will be invalidated on review "only if the magistrate, given the totality of the circumstances, lacked a 'substantial basis' for determining that probable cause existed." *Id.* at 1259-60 (citations omitted); *accord Gates*, 462 U.S. at 238-39. The information set forth in the affidavit, "viewed as a whole," provided a substantial basis for the magistrate's probable cause finding.

The search warrant affidavit indicated that the CI told Officer Pratt that he had made drug “purchases” from a man named Mike at Mike’s home. R62:¶4. He explained that Mike travels to California to obtain the marijuana and sells it in bulk in “vacuum sealed” bags or containers here in Utah. R62:¶¶4,6. The CI told Officer Pratt that Mike keeps the marijuana in his house, but he did not know where in the house. R62:¶6. If “adequately corroborated,” the CI’s tip no doubt supported a probable cause finding that drugs would be found in the home. *See Upton*, 466 U.S. at 731. The question is whether the magistrate had a “substantial basis” for crediting the CI’s tip. He did.

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