2015

State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellant, vs. Michael Rowan & Rebecca George, Defendant/Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The trial court correctly concluded that the warrant was not supported by probable cause because the affidavit relied upon conclusory statements, unspecific and unverified information, and a ‘controlled’ buy which was anything but controlled. The police had no reason to believe the drugs found on the Confidential Informant did not come from his car which they neglected to search.

Even under the substantial basis standard the trial court would have been correct in concluding that the magistrate's decision was erroneous because the affidavit did not demonstrate a substantial basis to believe evidence of illegal conduct would be found in the defendants' home. Under the traditional, mixed standard of review, the trial court correctly concluded the warrant was not supported by probable cause.

In the alternative, this Court could affirm because the trial court could have concluded the warrant was improper because the police omitted crucial information that misled the magistrate on issues critical to the determination of the informant's credibility. The officer's alleged that the Confidential Informant was reliable based on his record of not providing false or misleading information in the past, but the officer neglected to admit that the informant had never provided them any information before, true or false. That omission misled the magistrate into crediting the Confidential Informant as a reliable proven source rather than an unproven criminal looking to gain favor in his own case. Because the officer provided misleading information in the affidavit, this Court could strike the misleading information and conclude the affidavit was wholly inadequate to support the issuance of a search warrant.

2. This Court should not overrule the Utah cases that recognize the exclusionary rule in Article I, Section 14, of the Utah Constitution. The existence of a state exclusionary rule is supported by the text of the Utah Constitution, by the intent of the framers, and by the historical context and cases at the time of

ratification. This Court should reaffirm its precedent that violations of Article I, Section 14, are subject to exclusion as a constitutionally required remedy, not merely a judicial tool for deterrence.

3. This Court should not recognize a good faith exception to Utah's exclusionary rule. The exclusionary rule is not merely a judicially crafted remedy to deter police misconduct, it is the natural manifestation of the "right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects". Exclusion of illegally obtained evidence is the essence of the right. Exclusion of illegally obtained evidence puts the people back into the state which existed prior to the violation, it reestablishes a person's security guaranteed by the language of the constitution. A good faith exception undermines these purposes. A good faith exception undermines the warrant issuing process by diminishing the incentive the police have to actually establish probable cause and insulating the reviewing judges from any scrutiny. A good faith exception obliterates the fundamental constitutional requirement that no warrant shall issue but upon probable cause.

ARGUMENT

I. THE WARRANT WAS ISSUED WITHOUT PROBABLE CAUSE AND WITHOUT A SUBSTANTIAL BASIS TO FIND PROBABLE CAUSE

A. Relevant Standard of Review

The standard of review may be of interest to this Court as it considers how to interpret the Utah Constitution and how cases like this one, where a warrant was issued and then later invalidated after a motion to suppress. The State's Brief cites *Norris*, 2001 UT 104 for the proposition that reviewing courts "afford[]

great deference to the magistrate's decision to issue a search warrant." State's Brief at 3. The State goes on to cite the United States Supreme Court in support of its claim that this Court will not examine de novo whether or not probable cause existed, but only whether the magistrate had a substantial basis to conclude that probable cause existed. State's Brief at 3 (*quoting Massachusetts v. Upton*, 466 U.S. 727, 728, 104 S.Ct. 2085, 80 L.Ed.2d 721 (1984)).

"The right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures is a civil right." *Allen v. Trueman*, 110 P.2d 355 (Utah 1941) (J. Wolfe concurring). So too would be the right to be protected from a search warrants issued without probable cause. The problem with the standard of review proposed by the State, and imposed by the federal case law, is that it destroys the probable cause standard, thereby diminishing individual civil rights. The plain language of the right is that warrants "shall not issue but upon probable cause." The obvious meaning of that language is that we have the right not to have a magistrate issue a warrant to search or seize us or our property without probable cause.

In reality, the standard of review applied under the federal constitution adds an asterisk to the Fourth Amendment, and in a small font in a footnote the federal constitution now says "*Warrants may actually issue without probable cause so long as the magistrate has a substantial basis to conclude probable cause may exist, regardless of whether or not probable cause actually does exist.*" How this standard can be said to protect one of our most inviolate and sacred rights is a mystery. Probable cause is probable cause. Halfway, or $\frac{3}{4}$ of the way to probable cause

may be a substantial basis, but it is not probable cause. Any standard that would uphold the issuance of a warrant without requiring 100 percent of probable cause should give pause to a court seeking to follow the text of the constitution.

Instead of applying the substantial basis standard, as the federal courts have applied to the Fourth Amendment, Defendants urge this Court, as it takes the opportunity to consider the section 14, to apply a standard of review that adequately accounts for the significance and simplicity of the right the government has allegedly violated. After all, if the same constitutional right is afforded a non-deferential correctness review when a search occurs without a warrant⁵ (i.e. Did probable cause exist when the police searched an automobile on the side of the road?), why should the existence of an invalid warrant undermine or diminish a person's right to be free from government interference with a less demanding standard (i.e. Even though no probable cause existed, did the magistrate have a substantial basis to find probable cause to issue the warrant?)? The obvious answer, the answer that strictly interprets the language of the constitution is that the existence of a warrant shouldn't undermine or diminish the probable cause standard. Probable cause is probable cause, whether this Court is reviewing a district court's finding of probable cause for an automobile search or a magistrate's finding of probable cause in the issuance of a

⁵ See *State v. Brake*, 2004 UT 95, ¶15, 103 P.3d 699 (Utah 2004) (this Court abandoned "the standard which extended 'some deference' to the application of law to the underlying factual findings in search and seizure cases in favor of non-deferential review.").

warrant, the right is the same and probable cause is the same, so too should be the standard of review.

However, the State in its brief and the federal case law support the distinction between the standard in warrant and non-warrant cases. The State argues that this Court “may not invalidate the warrant simply because it might have reached a different result”. State’s Brief at 14. In other words, according to the State, this Court may not invalidate a warrant even if it was not supported by probable cause. According to this federal precedent, this Court’s ability to review a challenged search or seizure based on a warrant is distinct (and constrained) as compared to its ability and practice to review a search or seizure made without a warrant.

Applying this rule, imagine the police are investigating the activity at two adjoining houses and collect the same amount of evidence in support of their intended search for each house, evidence which does not reach the level of probable cause, and the police obtain a warrant in one instance and decline to request a warrant in the other. The house without the warrant is entitled to the full protection of the probable cause standard, the search of this home would be illegal. But the house with the warrant is denied the protection of the probable cause standard, and some unclear metric, something less than probable cause, may be found to justify the search.

According to the State, this distinction is appropriate because “the resolution of doubtful or marginal cases in this area should be largely determined

by the preference to be accorded to warrants.” State’s Brief at 14 (*quoting United States v. Vantresca*, 380 U.S. 102, 109, 85 S.Ct. 741, 13 L.Ed.2d 684). In other words, because we like warrants and we want to encourage the police to seek warrants, if it is a close case where we are not sure whether probable cause existed but a warrant was obtained, courts are going to uphold the search, regardless of the actual existence of probable cause. Apparently for the State, tie goes to the warrant, as opposed to the constitution.

But this problematic reasoning actually goes further than that. The federal courts, in an effort to encourage the police to request a warrant, have decided to reduce the amount of evidence needed to support a warrant if the officers are willing to go to the trouble of requesting it. *Vantresca*, 380 U.S. 102, 109 (“this Court, strongly supporting the preference to be accorded searches under a warrant, indicated that in a *doubtful* or marginal case a search under a warrant may be sustainable where without one it would fall”) (*emphasis added*) (*loosely citing Jones v. United States*, 362 U.S. 257, 270, 80 S.Ct. 725, 4 L.Ed.2d 697 (1960)).⁶ Put plainly, according to the State and at least some of the federal case

⁶ Defendants claim the citation in *Vantresca* to *Jones* is “loose[]” because page 270 of the *Jones* decision does not indicate the evidentiary requirement in warrant cases was lower than in non-warrant cases, although *Vantresca* seems to say that it does. What page 270 in *Jones* does indicate is that warrants should not require more evidence, or “evidence of a more judicially competent or persuasive character”, than would support probable cause without a warrant, and that in close cases “it is most important that resort be had to a warrant, so that the evidence in the possession of the police may be weighed by an independent judicial officer”. *Jones*, 270. In other words, *Jones* wants to ensure that the police are not being disincentivised to seek a warrant. This is very different than saying

law, a search does not really need to be based on probable cause if a magistrate was willing to sign a warrant.

The standard of review distinction between probable cause and the somewhat lower standard in warrant cases is ruinous to the explicit constitutional requirement that “no warrant shall issue but upon probable cause”. This Court should take this opportunity to “support, obey and defend... the Constitution of this State” by implementing a Utah standard of review that requires warrants to be supported by probable cause, period. UTAH CONST., art. IV, sec. 10. Even if this Court feels compelled to start its analysis by examining federal precedent, any such “precedent is certainly not controlling if interpretations of the Fourth Amendment are inconsistent or confused.” *State v. Anderson*, 910 P.2d 1229, 1235 (Utah 1996) (citing *State v. Harmon*, 910 P.2d 1196, 1205-06 (Utah 1995)). Federal precedent which interprets the explicit probable cause requirement and concludes there is a distinction between probable cause to support a warrantless search and something less than probable cause to support a warrant is inconsistent with the plain language of the constitution and confused. This Court should feel no obligation follow these cases or apply the federal standard of review when reviewing challenges based on Utah’s constitution.

Defendants contend that federal efforts to encourage officers to follow the

probable cause for a warrant requires less evidence than non-warrant probable cause as *Vantresca*, and by extension the State, interprets it.

constitutional demand for warrants, while arguably motivated by proper intent, have had the (perhaps) unintended consequence of diminishing and undermining the rights and standards explicitly provided by our constitution. Attempts to follow that federal path, toward diminished constitutional protection, is at odds with an oath to support, obey, and defend Utah's constitution. Both as judges and as members of the bar we have sworn fidelity to the protection of these rights. It is in light of that duty that appellate counsel urges to the Court to consider this case as a whole, and specifically the applicable standard of proof. Defendants urge the Court to reject the standard of review propagated by the federal case law and apply this Court's traditional mixed question standard, reviewing factual findings for clear error and the existence of probable cause for correctness. "[T]his two-standard approach takes into account the relative functions of the trial and appellate courts while ensuring the consistent and uniform protection of a fundamental civil liberty." *State v. Thurman*, 846 P.2d 1256, 1270 (Utah 1993) (citing *State v. Vigil*, 815 P.2d 1296, 1299 (Utah 1991)).

B. Relevant Search and Seizure Law

"The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated; and no warrant shall issue but upon probable cause supported by oath or affirmation, particularly describing the place to be searched, and the person or thing to be seized." UTAH CONST., ART. I, SECT. 14. Despite the simplicity of the language used

in Utah's constitution, there has been great confusion about what the right actually means, how it can be vindicated, and under what circumstances the government can infringe upon the right.

Confusion about the breadth and depth of the federal counterpart in the Fourth Amendment has been propagated by years of contradictory case law. See *State v. Hygh*, 711 P.2d 264, 271-72 (Utah 1985) (J. Zimmerman concurring) (describing the federal search and seizure law as a “labyrinth of rules built upon a series of contradictory and confusing rationalizations and distinctions”). It is in this context, the confused and contradictory Fourth Amendment case law, that the Defendants in this case come before this Court seeking a simple and straightforward application of Utah's right, as a distinct and independent source of protection from government interference in the lives of the people of Utah.

Based upon the trial court's ruling and the State's appeal, the question in this section is whether, according to Utah's constitutional requirements, the magistrate had a substantial basis to conclude the warrant application established “probable cause supported by oath or affirmation, particularly describing the place to be searched, and the person or thing to be seized.” UTAH CONST., ART. I, SECT. 14.⁷ Or, if the Court accepts Defendants' invitation and applies the constitutionally sound standard of review, the only question is

⁷ The question of whether the affidavit particularly described “the place to be searched, and the person or things to be seized” was not address in the court below and the record does not include any facts about whether the description in the affidavit is accurate. Therefore, Defendants limit their argument to the question of probable cause.

whether the trial court erred in concluding the affidavit didn't establish probable cause. Defendants assert this Court can answer both questions in the negative.

"Since our Constitution requires a showing of probable cause to support a search warrant... we hold, in line with the overwhelming weight of authority in the federal and state courts" that an affidavit is "not sufficient if it is made on information and belief, and is not corroborated or supported in any way." *Allen v. Lindbeck*, 93 P.2d 920, 923 (Utah 1939). In *Allen*, a statute authorized the issuance of a warrant if the affiant "deposes that he has reason to believe and does believe the articles are wrongfully held or used." *Allen*, 93 P.2d 920, 922. This Court concluded the statute was unconstitutional where it authorized a warrant, because probable cause was not "satisfied by an oath that one has reason to believe and does believe." *Allen*, 922.

Probable cause in Utah is more than suspicion, and it is more than reasonable belief. Probable cause is defined as an "apparent state of facts that a discreet and prudent man would be led to the belief that the accused, at the time of the application for the warrant, *was* in possession of the property." *Allen*, 97 Utah 471, 477 (*quoting* *Cornelius on Search and Seizure*, § 83). Defendants assert that the use of the word "was" in that sentence is crucially important. The term is not 'might be' or even 'is likely'. The discreet and prudent person, based on the information he possesses, believes some set of facts 'is' the case.

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